IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THOMAS W. RIGTERINK,

Appellant,

Case No. SC05-2162

vs.

Lower Ct. NO. CF03-006982-XX

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

/

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT A. NORGARD ATTOREY AT LAW FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 322059

P.O. BOX 811 BARTOW, FL 33831 (863)533-8556

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

ANDREA M. NORGARD ATTORNEY AT LAW FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 661066

P.O. BOX 811 BARTOW, FL 33831 (863)533-8556

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This appeal comes to this Court from a sentence of death imposed by the trial court. Volumes I-V of the record contain the documents supplied by the clerk and will be referenced in the Initial Brief by the volume number, "R", and the page number. Volume V also contains the first 146 of voir dire. Volumes V-XXXIII contains paqes the transcripts of the proceedings. The transcripts will be referenced in the Initial Brief by the volume number, "T", and the page number. There is one Supplemental Record of transcripts, which will be referenced in the brief as "SR", followed by the page number. The Appellant, Thomas Rigterink, will be referred to by his proper name. The Appellee, the State of Florida, will be referred to as the "State".

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant, Thomas W. Rigterink was indicted by the Grand Jury, in and for the Tenth Judicial Circuit, Polk County, Florida, on November 3, 2003, with two counts of First-Degree Murder, contrary to §782.04 and §775.087 Florida Statutes (2002), in the deaths of Jeremy Jarvis and Allison Sousa on September 24, 2003.(I,R128-129) The State filed a Notice of Intent to Seek the Death Penalty on

November 6, 2003.(I,R136)

Defense counsel filed a Motion to Suppress Statements and Admissions with Attached Exhibits on August 20, 2004.(II,R191-212) A hearing was conducted on the Motion to Suppress on November 24, 2004.(II,R216-339) The trial court entered an order denying the motion on January 19, 2005. (III,R340-342). The defense filed a Motion for Rehearing on January 28, 2005.(III,R343-358) The original denial was adopted by the trial judge.

The defense filed numerous motions challenging the constitutionality of the capital punishment procedure, including motions challenging penalty phase jury instructions, the lack of unanimity in the jury recommendation, judicial imposition of sentence rather than jury, and violations of the Eighth Amendment.(I,R369-371;392-399;409-413;456-481;482-514) The motions were denied. (I,R516-518)

A jury trial was held on August 15 through September 9, 2005, before Judge J. Dale Durrance, Circuit Judge. (IV,T1-146,V-XXXIII). The parties stipulated to the identities of both victims.(IV,R585) The jury returned a verdict of guilty of First-Degree Murder as to both counts on September 9, 2005.(IV,R611-612;XXXI,T4558-4561)

Penalty phase was conducted on September 14-15, 2005. (XXXI,T4570-4695;XXXII) The jury returned a recommendation of death by a vote of 7-5 on each count on September 15, 2005.(IV,R613-614)

Following the penalty phase, both the defense and State submitted sentencing memorandum for the court's consideration.(IV,R615-621(State);622-633(Defense)).

Prior to the scheduled <u>Spencer</u> hearing, defense counsel filed a Motion to Continue both the <u>Spencer</u> and Sentencing Hearings and a Motion to Appoint an Expert Advisor.(IV,R634-638) The defense sought to obtain a neurological examination and assessment of Mr. Rigterink. (IV,R635-638) A hearing was held on the both motions on October 6, 2005.(IV,R639-666) After argument of both parties, the trial court denied both motions.(IV,R666-667;V,R730-733) The parties then proceeded to conduct the <u>Spencer</u> hearing.(IV,R667-678) No additional evidence was submitted and no additional argument made.

The trial court imposed sentence on October 14, 2005. (IV,R678-703) On Count 1 the trial court found the aggravating circumstances of prior violent felony conviction for the contemporaneous crime (great weight) and HAC (great weight).(IV,R684-687) As to Count 2, the trial

court found the aggravating circumstance of prior violent felony conviction for the contemporaneous crime (great weight), murder committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest (great weight), and HAC (great weight).(IV,R688-692). The trial court found the following mitigation: no significant prior criminal history (some weight), drug use (little weight), reputation as a peaceful person (some weight), kindness and attention to grandmother (some weight), desire to help other inmates (some weight), religious commitment (some weight), supportive family (moderate weight), capable of kindness (some weight), education (little weight), many friends, love for family, and religious commitment already considered and given some weight, kind to animals (little weight), sympathy for family of Ms. Sousa (little weight), ability to educate and be educated (some weight), and appropriate court room behavior (little weight).(IV,R692-700) The trial court rejected the following proposed mitigation as unproven: remorse, ability to recognize own mistakes, and proof of premeditation not great.(IV,R700-701)

The trial court imposed a sentence of death on Counts 1 and 2. (IV,R702) The written sentencing order was filed on October 17, 2005.(V,R706-729)

A Notice of Appeal was filed on November 4, 2005.(V,R734) An Amended Notice of Appeal was filed on November 30, 2005.(V,R744)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Alexander Bove was driving east on Highway 542 near Winter Haven, Florida around 3:05 p.m. on September 24, 2003.(XV,T1827) Mr. Bove saw two men on a sidewalk in front of a building. One man, clad in a white T-shirt with red on it, was on the ground. (XV,T1829) The second man was standing over the man on the ground and was trying to drag him.(XV,T1828,1831,1843) Mr. Bove testified the man on the ground got up and ran towards him. He pulled off his Tshirt while trying to get away from the second man and left in on the sidewalk.(XV,T1830,1845) Mr. Bove saw the man was injured and observed a large amount of blood on him.(XV,T1830) Then the second man went into the building returned with a filet knife and larqe in his hand.(XV,T1828,1832,1848) The man with the knife chased the injured man toward Mr. Bove's vehicle.(XV,T1828,1832) Mr. Bove saw the injured man go into another part of the building.(XV,T1846) Mr. Bove drove straight home and contacted 911. (XV,T1834)

Mr. Bove described the injured man as being 5'8", 150-200 lbs., and with dark brown hair.(XV,T1833) Mr. Bove described the man with the knife as being 6'-6'3", 150-200 lbs., with dark brown hair and wearing a white shirt and dark colored pants.(XV,T1834) Mr. Bove estimated the ages of both men to be in their 20's to mid 30's.(XV,T1834)

Amanda Short testified that in September 2003 she and Mrs. Allison Sousa were employed by Total Construction Management, which occupied units 1 and 2 of an office complex on Highway 542.(XVIII,T2361-62) Mrs. Sousa worked near the reception area in unit 1 and Mrs. Short worked in an adjacent office contained in unit 2.(XVIII,T2364) Both women had telephones in their work areas.(XVIII,T2364)

Around 3:00 p.m. on September 24, 2003, Mrs. Short was on the telephone when Mrs. Sousa came to her with concerns about some noises outside.(XVIII,T2365) They went to the front door and opened it.(XVIII,T2365) Mrs. Short could hear someone screaming.(XVIII,T2366) Mrs. Short watched Mrs. Sousa look toward unit 5, and from her reaction could tell that she saw something.(XVIII,T2369-70) Mrs. Sousa jumped back and almost immediately a dirty, sweaty, and bloody man appeared.(XVIII,T2371) The man was frantic and wanted help.(XVIII,T2371)

б

Mrs. Short and Mrs. Sousa let the man enter unit 1. (XVIII,T2372) The man was shirtless and was bleeding heavily from his side.(XVIII,T2373) They had the man sit in a chair next to the door.(XVIII,T2373) Mrs. Sousa told Mrs. Short to get some towels from the kitchen while she called 911.(XVIII,T2374)

Mrs. Short was walking to the kitchen when she heard a door slam.(XVIII,T2376) She turned and saw someone cross the reception area and go very quickly toward Mrs. Sousa.(XVIII,T2377;2383) Mrs. Short was able to see a side view of the person. It was not the man who was bleeding. (XVIII,T2380)

Mrs. Short testified the man who entered was wearing a white T-shirt and dark denim shorts.(XVIII,T2380) He was white, with dark hair, six feet tall, slender, somewhat olive skinned, had no hair on his forearms, and appeared to be in his early to late 20's.(XVIII,T2381;2402;2412) Mrs. Short was unable to later identify the person she saw from a police photopak, but did select a photo that looked most like the person.(XVIII,T2399-2405) Mrs. Short thought the man saw her as he crossed the reception area.(XVIII,T2387)

Mrs. Sousa could see the man coming towards her.(XVIII,T2382) Mrs. Short heard Mrs. Sousa scream

"Please don't hurt me" as the man came toward her. (XVIII,T2384;XIX,T2425)

Short turned and ran to the back of Mrs. the building.(XVIII,T2384) She went into unit 2, dead-bolted the door, and called 911.(XVIII,T2385) Mrs. Short could hear banging and scuffling coming from unit 1. (XVIII, T2386) At one point there was pounding or banging on the door of the office she was in.(XVIII,T2390) The 911 operator told Mrs. Short to stay inside the locked office until the police came.(XVIII,T2391) When the police arrived she was hysterical.(XVIII,T2395)

911 operator Angela Clay received three 911 calls on September 24- two from the crime scene at Highway 542 and one from a different location.(XIX,T2453-2454) The two from the crime scene were received calls almost. simultaneously at 3:07 p.m.(XIX,T2456) The first call had an "open line", meaning that 911 could hear someone, but there was no communication established.(XIX,T2456) The tape of the first call contained the voice of the operator saying "Hello", followed by a voice saying "Oh, my God. Don't-don't hurt me. No."(XIX,T2460) The operator reported hearing sounds and something being thrown around. (XIX,T2460) The first call lasted four minutes.(XIX,T2457)

The second call was received nine seconds later and reported a break-in.(XIX,T2457) The caller, Amanda Short, was frantic.(XIX,T2457,2461-2484)

Polk County Sheriff Deputy David Jones was dispatched 3:13 p.m. to respond to a building on Highway at 542.(XV,T1854) He arrived at 3:18 p.m.(XV,T1854) Deputy Jones saw that the door of unit 5 was opened and he observed blood on the interior wall.(XV,T1855) Deputy Jones called for backup and Deputy Mackie arrived quickly.(XV,T1855;XVI,T1922) Deputy Mackie stopped at unit 1.(XV,T1855;XVI,T1923) After securing the front of the building, Mackie went to the back of unit 1 and discovered the bodies of Jeremy Jarvis and Allison Sousa. (XV,T1855;XVI,T1925-1928) The bodies were covered in blood.(XVI,T1928) Mr. Jarvis was wearing shorts and did not have a shirt on. Ms. Sousa was fully clothed. (XVI,T1929)

The deputies then began to search unit 1 and unit 5.(XV,T1856) They rattled a locked office door in the back of unit 1.(XV,T1856) Amanda Short opened that door. (XV,T1857;XVI,T1931)

A statement was taken from Ms. Short.(XV,T1859) Ms. Short said the man who came into unit 1 with a knife was a

white male, 27 years old, with straight black collar-length hair and a medium build.(XV,T1862)

Various crime scene technicians processed unit 5, unit 1, and the sidewalk between the two units. (XV,T1868-1895;XVI) A video of the crime scene was made and shown to the jury.(XVI,T1960-1965)

Splashes of blood were found on the sidewalk between unit 5 and unit 1 and were consistent with someone moving quickly.(XV,T1879-1883;XX,T2731) A bloody T-Shirt with apparent knife holes was found on the sidewalk. (XVI,T1912;1916) The shirt belonged to Mr. Jarvis. (XVI,T1913) It was determined that Mr. Jarvis lived in unit 5.(XVI,T2049)

Smeared blood was observed on the exterior and the interior of the doorway to unit 5.(XV,T1884) The miniblinds on the door had blood on them.(XV,T1885) Blood was found on wall and security system keypad near the door. the (XV,T1886;XX,T2741) Blood was found on the floor of the 5.(XV,T1887) There were front room of unit large wall, woodwork, and bloodstains on the baseboard. (XV,T1888;XVI,T1903) The blood on the wall was consistent with a contact stain.(XX,T2737) It appeared that a scuffle had taken place in the front room area of unit 5.

(XVI,T1903) The sofa was turned over and there was blood on the sofa cushions.(XV,T1892-93;XVI,T1898) Blood was also found around and underneath the sofa.(XVI,T1900) A bloody handprint appeared to be on the wall.(XV,T1893) A partial bloody shoe print was observed on the floor. (XV,T1894)

A large quantity of marijuana was found under the bed in unit 5.(XVI,T1905;1913;2018) Marijuana was also found in a laundry basket and inside a backpack.(XVI,T2025-2027) The weight of the first sample was 22.2 grams.(XXII,T3078) The second sample weighed 282.2 grams.(XXII,T3082) The weight of the third sample was 439.9 grams.(XXII,T3085) One pound contains 454 grams.(XXII,T3089)

Attempts were made to collect fingerprints from unit 5.(XVI,T1987) A total of 25 prints were collected from unit 5.(XVI,T2041) All the prints were identified as belonging to Mr. Jarvis.(XXI,T2940-2945)

Unit 1 was the business office for Total Construction. It contained a warehouse unit, storage room, bathroom, kitchen area, three offices, reception area, and lobby.(XVII,T2074)

The bodies of Mr. Jarvis and Mrs. Sousa were found in the warehouse area.(XVII,T2076;2205-2209) Two handprints in

blood were in this area.(XVII,T2080) Several bloody shoe impressions were found.(XVII,T2081) No shoe prints were found leading out of the warehouse.(XVIII,T2287) The door leading into the warehouse was damaged and had a bloody handprint on it.(XVII,T2081)

The lobby area of unit 1 had large amounts of blood on the floor.(XVII,T2094) Blood smears were found on the pass through and reception window.(XVII,T2097) A chair in the lobby had bloodstains on the backrest.(XVII,T2099) A hallway leading to the offices had large amounts of blood on the floor with several shoe impressions.(XVII,T2094) Blood in the lobby was consistent with blunt force trauma occurring in the area.(XX,T2743)

A broken hair clip and blood was found in the first office/reception area.(XVII,T2077) The desk phone was off the hook. Blood was found on the phone and the surrounding area.(XVII,T2078) Blood was found under the desk. (XVII,T2105) Mrs. Sousa's purse was found on the floor next to the telephone.(XVII,T2111)

Blood covered the hallway floor and walls leading toward the warehouse area.(XVII,T2137-2166) A broken gumball machine with vomit around it was in the hall.(XVII,T2137) Partial bloody shoe impressions were

found in this area.(XVII,T2138)

The kitchen area had blood on the refrigerator and trash can.(XVII,T2175) Blood was also on the wall, countertops, cabinets, and floor of the kitchen leading into the warehouse area consistent with contact. (XVII,T2179-2189;XX,T2746) No latent prints were processed from unit 1.(XVIII,T2310-2313)

Dr. Vera Volnikh performed the autopsies.(XXI,T2827-2927) The fingerprints of Mrs. Sousa and Mr. Jarvis were obtained.(XIX,T2491) During the autopsy fingernail scrapings and blood samples were taken from Mrs. Sousa and Mr. Jarvis.(XX,T2659-2669) Dr. Volnikh found numerous stab wounds and abrasions to Mr. Jarvis's face, neck, hand, fingers, torso, and back.(XXI,T2833-2872) Several of the wounds penetrated by depths of six inches or more. (XXI,T2841,2844,2862) Mr. Jarvis lost a significant amount of blood and died due to hypovolemic shock within several minutes.(XIX,T2872-3) Mr. Jarvis had anti-anxiety drugs marijuana in his blood at the time of and his death.(XXI,T2901)

Mrs. Sousa suffered several stab wounds of up to seven inches in depth.(XXI,T2879-2885,2889) Mrs. Sousa bled to death from a stab wound to her chest.(XXI,T2885-2886,2896)

She would have lived for several minutes after the wound was inflicted.(XXI,T2897)

A cell phone belonging to Mr. Jarvis was found in unit 5.(XIX,T2545) A list of numerous outgoing and incoming calls was retrieved from the phone.(XIX,T2547-2549) Eventually every phone number was traced.(XIX,T2550) One phone number was traced to Kate Enriquez at Firestone Place, a Dundee housing development.(XIX,T2550) Several calls were to Marshall Mark Mullins, a potential lead.(XXIV)

Sgt. Jerry Connolly made contact with Mr. Mullins at his home on the evening of September 24.(XXIV,T3321) Mullins known to be involved in was the drug business.(XXV,T3485;3506) Mullins claimed that he was at work at 3:00 p.m. on the 24th.(XXIV,T3322) The next day Sgt. Connolly made contact with Randy Pilkington, Mullins' boss and Richard Champion, the customer Mullins claimed to working for.(XXIV,T3322) Sqt. Connolly confirmed be Mullins' work claim through Mr. Pilkington and Mr. Champion.(XXIV,T3323) Focus then shifted away from Mr. Mullins as a suspect, so Mrs. Short was never shown his photograph.(XXIV,T3323;XXV,T3485)

Sgt. Connolly also made contact with a suspect named

Nathan Roberson.(XXV,T3479-80) Mr. Roberson was found to have cuts and scratches on his arms when interviewed on September 30, 2003.(XXV,T3480) Mr. Roberson had a history of abnormal behavior. He provided an alibi for the 24th, but then recanted the alibi.(XXV,T3481) Mr. Roberson's whereabouts could not be corroborated.(XXV,T3482) Mr. Roberson had body piercings and tattoos that were inconsistent with Mrs. Short's description.(XXV,T3531)

A handful of the people that were interviewed as suspects mentioned that someone might have a problem with Mr. Jarvis over his drug business.(XXV,T3507-09)

On September 24, Sgt. Britt Williams went to Firestone Place, but no one was home. He was told by a neighbor that Mr. Rigterink and Kate Enriques were married, but had separated and Mr. Rigterink was staying in the house with a girlfriend.(XX,T2600-2603) The neighbor gave Williams the phone number for James and Nancy Rigterink, Mr. Rigterink's parents, who then were called.(XX,T2604) Nancy Rigterink brought her son, Mr. Rigterink, back to Firestone Place the next day.(XX,T2604)

On the evening of September 25, Detectives Ivan Navarro and Tracy Smith and Sgt. Williams returned to Firestone Place.(XIX,T2552,2576) They spoke with Mr.

Rigterink at his residence.(XIX,T2553) Navarro told Mr. Rigterink that Jarvis had been murdered.(XIX,T2568) Mr. Rigterink appeared calm and did not have any injuries to his face or hands.(XIX,T2568,2595) According to Sgt. Williams, Mr. Rigterink said that he was expecting the police because he had talked to Mr. Jarvis the day before.(XX,T2606) Sgt. Williams thought Mr. Rigterink was "too cool". (XX,T2608)

Mr. Rigterink told the police that he was involved in a relationship with Ms. Courtney Sheil and was separated from Kate Enriques.(XIX,T2554) Mr. Rigterink said that he was in class at Warner Southern College on September 24 from 8 a.m. until noon.(XIX,T2555) Mr. Rigterink met Mr. Jarvis through mutual friends named Mark Mullins, Bill Giles, and Bobby Cannon.(XIX,T2571) Cannon was a known drug dealer.(XXIV,T3332)

Mr. Rigterink said that he had talked to Mr. Jarvis twice by telephone on the 24th- once around noon and once around two in an effort to buy marijuana from Jarvis.(XIX,T2556,2579) Mr. Rigterink said that he normally bought pot from Jarvis twice a week- on Monday and Friday. Mr. Rigterink said that when he talked to Mr. Jarvis at two, Jarvis was on his way to Lakeland.

(XIX,T2558) This information was consistent with the phone records, which showed a 50 second call from Mr. Rigterink to Mr. Jarvis at 12:25 p.m. and a 19 second call from Mr. Rigterink to Mr. Jarvis at 2:39 p.m. on September 24.(XIX,T2580;XXIV,T3327-3328)

Able testified that Paul he owns The Natives, Inc.(XX,T2711) He employed Mr. Rigterink until August 21, 2003.(XX,T2711) Mr. Rigterink worked outdoors.(XX,T2712) Mr. Rigterink was fired on August 21.(XX,T2712) At that time Mr. Rigterink told Mr. Able he was in dire financial condition and had no money for food or gas.(XX,T2712) Mr. Rigterink confirmed this testimony, stating when he and his wife separated, he had a large revenue loss.(XXVI,T3788) His parents began to provide him with money.(XXVI,T3790) Mr. Rigterink admitted that he was using a Natives company gas card for personal use, thus he was fired.(XXVI,T3794)

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