IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC 05-2162

THOMAS W. RIGTERINK

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY, FLORIDA

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL MCCOLLUM
Attorney General
Tallahassee, Florida
Stormie Stafford
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 501840
Office of the Attorney General
Rivergate Plaza -- Suite 650
444 Brickell Avenue
Miami, Florida 33131
PH. (305) 377-5441
FAX (305) 377-5655

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

Neither did Mr. Farmer testify as to the "interaction of individuals involved in the drug trade in the immediate area." The only statement he made that could be interpreted to be about the drug trade in general was "You know, there's a lot of guys out there that do what we do, and I don't agree with a lot of their tactics, you know." (T 1592). In fact, Mr. Farmer

testified that he preferred to resolve things without incident. (T 1586, 1591-1592). He mentioned only two individuals he believed were violent. (T 1592). This testimony did not establish any pattern of behavior or reputation and therefore also is not relevant and is not admissible.

Finally, none of Mr. Farmer's testimony satisfies the standard a defendant must meet in order to introduce evidence tending to support the theory that another person is responsible for the crime of which the defendant is accused:

If a defendant's purpose is to shift suspicion from himself to another person, evidence of past criminal conduct of that other person should be of such nature that it would be admissible if that person were on trial for the present offense. Evidence of bad character or propensity to commit a crime by another would not be admitted; such evidence should benefit a criminal defendant no more than it should benefit the state.

State v. Savino, 567 So. 2d 892 (Fla. 1990).

The testimony of Mr. Farmer about his own experience and limited interaction with Mark Mullins included no evidence relevant to the crimes charged against Defendant. To allow Defendant to introduce the testimony to support his theory that Mark Mullins was responsible for the murders would require "stacking one inference upon another, which we decline to do." Merck v. State, 664 So. 2d 939, 942 (Fla. 1995) (defendant could not demonstrate evidence was material or exculpatory without

impermissibly stacking inferences)." Mendoza v. State, __ So. 2d ___32 Fla. L. Weekly 278 (Fla. May 24, 2007). Neither can Defendant introduce general "bad character" evidence. State v. Savino, 567 So. 2d 892 (Fla. 1990).

Defendant misstates even his own trial testimony when he argues that Mr. Farmer's testimony should be admitted to corroborate Defendant. Defendant did not testify to seeing Mark Mullins hold a gun to anyone's head. Defendant's testimony was that he had seen someone who worked for Jeremy Jarvis put a gun in someone's mouth and threaten him. (T 4171). Defendant's testimony was that he "had seen a couple of incidents" of violence and heard stories about other people. (T 4170). When his own counsel asked him if he had seen "that kind of behavior" with Mark Mullins, his answer went no farther than "Yes. Yes I have." (T 4171).

A trial court has broad discretion to determine if evidence is relevant. Its findings should not be disturbed absent an abuse of that discretion. Taylor v. State, 855 So. 2d 1, 21 (Fla. 2003). Ray v. State, 755 So. 2d 604 (Fla. 2000). A trial court's rulings as to the excluded evidence should be reviewed under the abuse of discretion standard. See, e.g., LaMarca v. State, 785 So. 2d 1209, 1212 (Fla. 2001) (explaining that a trial judge's rulings on the admission or exclusion of evidence are reviewed under the abuse of discretion standard). Under the

abuse of discretion standard, "[d]iscretion is abused only 'when the judicial action is arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable, which is another way of saying that discretion is abused only where no reasonable [person] would take the view adopted by the trial court.'" Trease v. State, 768 So. 2d 1050, 1053 n. 2 (Fla. 2000) (quoting Huff v. State, 569 So. 2d 1247, 1249 (Fla. 1990)).

Defendant incorrectly states the standard when he argues in his brief that due process is violated if any evidence supporting a defendant's theory is excluded. Rivera v. State, 561 So. 2d 536, 539 (Fla. 1990) states specifically: "the admissibility of this evidence must be gauged by the same principle of relevancy as any other evidence offered by the defendant." 561 So. 2d at 539. U.S. v. Scheffer, 523 U.S. 303 (1998) and Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284 (1973) apply the same standard. "[T]he accused, as is required of the State, must comply with established rules of procedure and evidence designed to assure both fairness and reliability in the ascertainment of guilt and innocence." Chambers, 410 U.S. at 302.

The trial court's ruling excluding the testimony of William Farmer should be affirmed.

Even if exclusion of William Farmer's testimony was error, it did not affect the outcome of the trial and was therefore harmless error. In $Reynolds\ v.\ State$, 935 So. 2d 1128 (Fla.

2006) this Court upheld a conviction when DNA evidence connected the defendant to the crime and other circumstantial evidence showed motive and the presence of the defendant at the crime, despite the trial court's erroneous evidentiary ruling excluding what the Defense contended were exculpatory statements by other persons. Because of the substantial evidence, the Court found that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. 935 So. 2d at 1140.

this case, Defendant confessed to the crime. Overwhelming physical evidence placed Defendant at the scene of the crime. Evidence established that Mark Mullins, the person Defendant sought to associate with the crime through proffered evidence, could not have been at the scene of the crime. The mere inference that some other persons in the drug trade are violent could not create reasonable doubt as to the Defendant's guilt. Because there is no reasonable possibility that the exclusion of Mr. Farmer's testimony contributed to the conviction, error, if any, was harmless. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129.

III & IV. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE CLAIMS UNDER RING

Defendant contends in issues III and IV that Florida's capital sentencing statute is facially unconstitutional under Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002), because the judge rather than the jury makes the findings of fact necessary to impose the death sentence. He also asserts that this Court is incorrect to hold that the presence of the prior felony aggravator satisfies Ring. Defendant filed a pretrial motion challenging the legality of Florida's death penalty under Ring because the judge rather than the jury imposes sentence, jury unanimity is not required as to the sentence recommendation, and there is no requirement for a jury finding for each aggravator.

As this Court only recently stated:

However, in over fifty cases since Ring's release, this Court has rejected similar Ring claims. See Marshall v. Crosby, 911 So. 2d 1129, 1134 n.5 (Fla. 2005), cert. denied, 126 S. Ct. 2059 (2006). As the Court's plurality opinion in $Bottoson\ v.$ Moore, 833 So. 2d 693 (Fla. 2002), noted, "the United States Supreme Court repeatedly has reviewed and upheld Florida's capital sentencing statute over the past quarter of a century." Id. at 695 & n.4 (listing as examples Hildwin v. Florida, 490 U.S. 638 (1989), Spaziano v. Florida, 468 U.S. 447 (1984), Barclay v. Florida, 463 U.S. 939 (1983), and Proffitt v. Florida, 428 U.S. 242 (1976)); see also King v. Moore, 831 So. 2d 143 (Fla. 2002) (denying relief under Ring).

Ring did not alter the express exemption in Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530

U.S. 466 (2000), that prior convictions are exempt from the Sixth Amendment requirements announced in the cases. This Court repeatedly relied on the presence of the violent felony prior aggravating circumstance in denying Ring claims. See, e.g., Smith v. State, 866 So. 2d 51, 68 (Fla. 2004) (denying relief on Ring claim and "specifically not[ing] that one of the aggravating factors present in this matter a prior violent felony conviction"); Davis v. State, 875 So. 2d 359, 374 (Fla. 2003) ("We have denied relief in direct appeals where there has been a prior violent felony aggravator."); Johnston v. State, 863 So. 2d 271, 286 (Fla. 2003) (stating that the existence of a "prior violent felony conviction alone satisfies constitutional mandates because the conviction was heard by a jury and determined beyond a reasonable doubt"); Henry v. State, 862 So. 2d 679, 687 (Fla. 2003) (stating in postconviction case that this Court has previously rejected Ring claims "in cases involving the aggravating factor of a previous violent felony conviction").

Additionally, this Court has rejected claims that *Ring* requires the aggravating circumstances to be individually found by a unanimous jury verdict. *See Hodges v. State*, 885 So. 2d 338, 359 nn.9-10 (Fla. 2004); *Blackwelder v. State*, 851 So. 2d 650, 654 (Fla. 2003); *Porter v. Crosby*, 840 So. 2d 981, 986 (Fla. 2003).

Frances v. State, __ So. 2d __, 32 Fla. L. Weekly 613 (Fla. Oct. 11, 2007).

The trial court's denial of the claims under Ring should be affirmed.

V & VI. DEFENDANT HAS NOT PRESERVED FOR APPEAL AN OBJECTION TO PENALTY PHASE JURY INSTRUCTIONS.

Issues V and VI of Defendant's Initial Brief attack the constitutionality of penalty phase jury instructions. Defendant has waived these arguments by failing to object when the penalty phase jury instructions were given.

To preserve for review by the appellate court an objection to jury instructions, objections must be made at the time the instruction is given. Jury instructions "are subject to the contemporaneous objection rule, and, absent an objection at trial, can be raised on appeal only if fundamental error occurred." Walls v. State, 926 So. 2d 1156, 1180 (Fla. 2006). In Nelson v. State, 850 So. 2d 514, 525 (Fla. 2003) this Court reiterated the necessity for making a contemporaneous objection, even if a pre-trial motion has been filed:

the avoid Δs to arrest aggravator instruction, we agree with the State that Nelson did not properly preserve this issue for review. Although the record reflects that Nelson filed a motion to declare sections 921.141 and 921.141(5)(e), Florida Statutes (1997), unconstitutional, Nelson not specifically address the arrest jury instruction in that motion. Further, Nelson did not object to avoid adequacy of the arrest jury instruction at trial. This Court has held the contemporaneous objection applies to Espinosa challenges. See Hodges v. State, 619 So. 2d 272, 273 (Fla. 1993). Failure to make an objection at trial about will jury instruction render

procedurally barred. See id. Because the record reflects that Nelson did not object to the avoid arrest aggravator jury instruction at trial, we find this issue procedurally barred.

850 So. 2d 525 (emphasis added).

In Walls this Court found that only the jury instructions that were objected to at the time they were given were properly preserved for review on appeal, and re-adopted the rule in Hodges v. State, 619 So. 2d 272, 273 (Fla. 1993). In Hodges, this Court reviewed the case on remand from the United States Supreme Court in light of its ruling that jury instructions on heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravator were unconstitutionally vague. The Court noted both that the specific aggravators ruled on by the United States Supreme Court had not been at issue in Mr. Hodges' case, and that no objection to the penalty phase jury instructions had been made at the time they were given:

The trial court gave the standard instruction on the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravator, but Hodges did not object to the form of that instruction, nor did he request an expanded instruction on this aggravator.

The contemporaneous objection rule applies to *Espinosa* error, i.e., a specific objection on the form of the instruction must be made to the trial court to preserve the issue for appeal. *E.g.*, *Thompson v. State*, 619 So. 2d 261, 1993 Fla. LEXIS 587, 18 Fla. Law W. S 212 (Fla. 1993); *Burns v. State*, 609 So. 2d 600 (Fla. 1992); *Melendez v. State*, 612 So. 2d 1366, 1992 Fla. LEXIS

1931, 17 Fla. Law W. S 699 (Fla. 1992); see Sochor v. Florida, 112 S. Ct. 2114, 119 L. Ed. 2d 326 (1992). Despite the failure to at trial, Hodges challenged object constitutionality of the cold, calculated instruction on appeal. We summarily found the issue meritless, but we should have held it procedurally barred because Hodges did not preserve it for review by objecting at we now hold that trial. Therefore, sufficiency of the cold, calculated instruction has not been preserved for review.

619 So. 2d 273.

The charging conference for the penalty phase of the trial was brief, and is reproduced here in its entirety:

CHARGE CONFERENCE

THE COURT: You all have a packet of the instructions?

MR. CASTILLO: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: I have reviewed them. They appear to be standard. Is there any additions or corrections by the State?

MR. CASTILLO: No, sir.

THE COURT: Any additions or corrections by the defense?

MR. HILEMAN: I'll defer to Mr. Carmichael on that one, Judge.

MR. CARMICHAEL: Judge, I have reviewed those, and we have no additions or deletions.

THE COURT: Okay. And closing arguments. The State will open their argument?

MR. CASTILLO: Yes, sir.

(T4960)

Defendant was given another opportunity to object after the judge had finished giving the jury the standard instructions, and the Defendant again declined to do so:

[THE COURT] . . . Are there any additional instructions or corrections by the State?

MR. CASTILLO: No, sir.

THE COURT: Any by the defense?

MR. HILEMAN: No, Your Honor.

(T 5023)

Defendant failed to object to the jury instructions at the time they were given. The issue is barred from consideration on appeal.

Even if the argument that the penalty phase jury instructions unconstitutionally shift the burden of proof had been preserved, it is without merit. This Court has repeatedly rejected the argument that the standard penalty phase jury instructions impermissibly shift the burden to the defense to prove that death is not the appropriate sentence. See, e.g., Elledge v. State, 911 So. 2d 57, 79 (Fla. 2005); Sweet v. Moore, 822 So. 2d 1269, 1274 (Fla. 2002).

Neither do the jury instructions improperly minimize the role of the jury. Informing the jury that their recommendation is advisory is a correct statement of Florida law and does not

violate Caldwell v. Mississippi. Dugger v. Adams, 489 U.S. 401, 407 (1989); Combs v. State, 525 So. 2d 853, 855-58 (Fla. 1988). The trial court should be affirmed.

VII. DEFENDANT HAS NOT PRESERVED FOR APPEAL HIS CLAIM THAT EXECUTION BY LETHAL INJECTION IS CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT.

In the trial court, defendant made no claim that execution by lethal injection is unconstitutional. The only claims made by Defendant that were at all related to imposing the death penalty was a claim that Florida's procedures for imposing the death sentence are unconstitutional. (R 456). Defendant's claim is procedurally barred. If the specific claim raised on appeal is not raised to the trial court, the claim is not preserved for appeal. Spann v. State, 857 So. 2d 845, 852 (Fla. 2003) ("[T]he specific legal ground upon which a claim is based must be raised at trial and a claim different than that will not be heard on appeal."); Finney v. State, 660 So. 2d 674, 683 (Fla. 1995)(citing Harmon v. State, 527 So. 2d 182, 185(Fla. 1988); Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982).

Even if the issue were not procedurally barred, this Court has found over and over again that death by lethal injection is not cruel and unusual punishment under the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution and under the Florida Constitution. Diaz v. State, 945 So. 2d 1136 (Fla.), cert. denied, 127 S. Ct. 850 (2006); See Sims v. State, 754 So. 2d 657, 668 (Fla. 2000) (holding that execution by lethal injection is not cruel and unusual punishment); Provenzano v. State, 761 So. 2d 1097, 1099 (Fla. 2000); Johnson v. State, 904

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